THESIS

KNOWLEDGE OF AND ATTITUDES TOWARDS EATING DISORDERS OF UNDERGRADUATE NUTRITION MAJORS AT THREE COLORADO UNIVERSITIES

Submitted by

Marcia H. Winer

Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Masters of Science

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Fall 2014

Master's Committee:

Advisor: Garry Auld

Co-Advisor: Melissa Wdowik

Kathryn Rickard

Copyright by Marcia H Winer 2014

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

KNOWLEDGE OF AND ATTITUDES TOWARDS EATING DISORDERS OF UNDERGRADUATE NUTRITION MAJORS AT THREE COLORADO UNIVERSITIES

Eating disorders are potentially deadly conditions. RDs who are knowledgeable about eating disorders can have a positive impact in eating disorder treatment. They can also contribute by recognizing symptoms of eating disordered behavior in clients and bringing awareness of the issue to the public through education on the differences between healthy and disordered eating. The question addressed in this research is: Are the Didactic Programs in Dietetics at three Colorado universities adequately preparing students, intent on becoming RDs, for encounters with patients with eating disorders?

In this study, participants were asked to complete a survey on their knowledge, beliefs, and attitudes towards eating disorders. Participation was completely optional and anonymous. Topics included etiology of eating disorders, knowledge of the physical effects of eating disorders, attitudes towards treating patients with eating disorders, and knowledge of treatment options and procedures for eating disorders.

There was no difference between schools in students' knowledge and attitudes except for the belief in the likelihood of anorexia nervosa to be fatal and the number of practitioners to which students would refer a client with an eating disorder. Significant differences were found between students who suspected and/or had been diagnosed with an eating disorder compared to those who had not. Those who had been diagnosed with or suspected they had an eating disorder

were more knowledgeable about anorexia and bulimia nervosa, felt eating disorders were harder to treat, and felt that individuals who develop eating disorders were less in control of the disease.

While undergraduate Didactic Programs in Dietetics (DPD) students in Colorado appear somewhat knowledgeable about anorexia and bulimia nervosa, they know less about binge eating disorder. It is recommended that DPD programs make time for at least a brief overview of EDs in appropriate classes, such as medical nutrition therapy or lifecycle nutrition, to better prepare students for encountering patients with EDs during their careers. This instruction should not only cover the physical signs, symptoms, and treatment options for EDs but also the psychological aspects of the disorders.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
LIST OF TABLES	v
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Complications of Eating Disorder	2
Prevalence Rates	3
Etiology	5
Eating Disorder Treatment and Recovery	5
Current Treatment Practices	6
Educational Preparation for Dietetic Professionals Working With ED	8
Current RD Knowledge and Attitudes Towards Eating Disorders	11
Purpose of Thesis Project	13
CHAPTER 2: JOURNAL OF THE ACADEMY OF NUTRITION AND DIETETICS MANUSCRIPT	14
Abstract	14
Introduction	15
Methods	21
Results	24
Discussion	28
Conclusions	33
CHAPTER 3: FURTHER CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	34
REFERENCES	36
APPENDIX 1: SURVEY COVER LETTER AND SURVEY	41

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. Demographic characteristics according to school	25
TABLE 2. Student responses according to school	26
TABLE 3. Student responses according to self-identified eating disorder	27
TABLE 4. Student's knowledge of eating disorders according to courses taken	28

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Eating disorders (ED) are biologically-based psychological disorders, the physical behaviors of which can lead to severe medical problems. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders- Fifth Edition (DSM-V) currently lists four separate categories of eating disorders: anorexia nervosa (AN), bulimia nervosa (BN), other specified feeding and eating disorders (OSFED), and binge eating disorder (BED) ^{1,2}. Anorexia nervosa, in which patients heavily restrict food intake to achieve extremely low body weight, has two subtypes: restricting (AN-R) subtype, in which the patient restricts food, and binge-purge subtype (AN-BP), in which the patient typically restricts food, but also has binge-purge episodes. Bulimia nervosa is characterized by episodes of binge eating followed by inappropriate compensatory mechanisms to eliminate the food and calories consumed. This can include purging through methods such as self-induced vomiting or abuse of laxatives or diuretics. There is also a subgroup of individuals with bulimia who do not purge, and instead use tactics such as excessive exercise and fasting. Binge eating disorder, which recently received its own category in the DSM-V, involves episodes of binge eating but no compensatory behaviors. Other specified feeding and eating disorders is a new category that involves sub threshold and atypical conditions; in this category, an individual clearly has an eating disorder, but the physical and/or psychological symptoms do not meet the criteria for one of the eating disorders listed above ². This category is similar to the formerly used category of eating disorders not otherwise specified (EDNOS). Despite receiving less media and researcher attention than AN, BN, and BED, OSFED conditions are perhaps the most common EDs seen in treatment ³⁻⁵. A common component in all EDs is that individuals rely on weight and shape to establish their sense of self-esteem and self-worth ⁶.

Complications of Eating Disorders

The physical complications that can arise from eating disorders are numerous, and can vary in severity depending on the behaviors of the individuals with the eating disorder and the duration of the eating disorder. AN can, among many other things, be accompanied by reduced bone density, constantly feeling cold, lanugo, amenorrhea and fertility issues, low blood pressure, cardiovascular issues, muscle weakness, and a decrease in gut motility and kidney function ⁷. Psychological and behavioral factors include lethargy, irritability, social withdrawal, inability to concentrate, excessive physical activity, and following a rigid daily schedule ⁸. Common complications from BN are electrolyte imbalance, gastrointestinal complications, dehydration, menstrual irregularities and fertility problems, bloating, cavities, and kidney damage ⁷. It should be noted that individuals with BN tend to be of normal weight, and in some cases are even slightly overweight ^{6,9}. The medical complications of BED are typically overweight/obesity and the associated sequelae of issues associated with excess body weight, such as diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease ⁶.

Eating disorders have a high rate of comorbidity with other mental disorders. The 2003 National Comorbidity Survey Replication of 9,285 US adults reported that over half of individuals with AN, 94.5% of individuals with BN, and 78.9% of individuals with BED met the criteria for at least one other mental health disorder, with 50-63% receiving treatment for an emotional problem at some point ¹⁰. Adolescents with partial and full-syndrome eating disorders have been found to have significantly higher rates of depression, anxiety, and substance abuse than their non-eating disordered peers ¹¹. Individuals with AN show higher rates of obsessive-compulsive disorder, in particular ^{12,13}. Self-injurious behaviors have also been reported in individuals with eating disorders, with the possibility that those who do self-injure have more severe eating-disordered behaviors ¹⁴.

Unsurprisingly, individuals with eating disorders have an increased rate of death.

Mortality rates for AN have been consistently higher than that of the general population¹⁵⁻¹⁸.

Common causes of death are suicide and cardiac events ^{15,18}. The risk of death from AN rises with the length of the disease ¹⁵. BN and OSFED are also associated with increased all-cause mortality ¹⁷, and both show a significantly higher rate of deaths from suicide than non-ED populations ¹⁶.

Prevalence Rates

The prevalence of EDs in the general population appears to be on the rise ^{19,20}. The exact prevalence of EDs is impossible to determine for a variety of reasons, including the low numbers of those with eating disorders actually being identified and treated, varying definitions of ED used in prevalence studies, and the possibility that increased public awareness of eating disorders has simply increased the numbers of those with ED seeking treatment and being diagnosed. Additionally, the current percentage of individuals with ED is relatively small compared to the general population ¹⁹.

Therefore, the current numbers available are educated guesses. Hudson and Hiripi estimate that the lifetime prevalence of AN, BN, and BED are 0.9%, 1.5%, and 3.5%, respectively, for women and 0.3%, 0.5%, and 2.0%, respectively, for men ¹⁰. Prevalence rates for OSFED are not yet available due to the newness of the diagnosis. It is important to note that individuals can have more than one lifetime diagnosis of an ED, and it is not unheard of to move from one diagnosis to another; thus prevalence rates increase when considering lifetime presence of an eating disorder ²¹. Even so, these numbers indicate that approximately 1% of the population has suffered from AN, 2% from BN, and over 5% from BED at some point in life—over 25 million individuals in the US alone. These numbers do not include other ED sub-categories such

as atypical AN, atypical BN, purging disorder, and other manifestations of EDs that do not neatly fit into a diagnosis of AN, BN, or BED, or disordered eating, suggesting that the prevalence rate of EDs in the United States is likely higher than the 8% estimated. This is supported by the finding that 76% of college students report knowing someone with an ED²². In a recent general population survey in the UK, 10% of respondents disclosed disordered eating behaviors²³.

EDs, particularly AN and BN, occur more frequently in females than males ^{10,24}. BED has a smaller gender gap than other EDs. Although it is still more commonly reported in women than men ²⁴, one study reported higher rates of subthreshold BED in men than women ¹⁰. Males do suffer from eating disorders, often with the same psychological issues and physical consequences, although these symptoms are not as readily recognized as being caused by an ED as they would be in female patients ²⁵. In fact, in a treatment setting, male patients tend to have more severe, life-threatening issues than their female counterparts due to longer periods of pretreatment malnutrition, typically because there is a longer delay in males receiving treatment ^{25,26}. Additionally, some of the signs and symptoms of ED in males can differ from females. For example, males with ED are more likely to be athletes and are more focused on body shape and muscularity than females ^{26,27}.

Minority women, particularly African-American women, can also be afflicted by eating disorders, yet studies have shown that the general public and physicians are more likely to diagnose a white or Hispanic patient with an ED than an African-American one ^{28,29}. But, minority women do suffer from body image, weight concerns, and eating disordered behaviors ^{30,31}. In a 2000 study, black girls aged 11-16 years actually scored higher than white girls on several personality traits of the Eating Disorders Inventory (EDI) subscale commonly associated with ED ³².

While the incidence and prevalence rates for AN seem to be relatively stable ³³, the incidence of BN cases seen in a primary care setting increased, hitting a peak in the 1990's before leveling off ^{10,20}. The incidence of EDNOS diagnoses, which include BED and "atypical" AN and BN, in the general population increased in the past decade³³.

Etiology

To date, the cause of eating disorders remains an elusive mix of a variety of factors.

Genetics play a role, certainly in anorexia and bulimia ⁶, and quite possibly for BED and OSFED as well, although genetic studies of those particular EDs is limited. Other factors include low self-esteem, previous obesity (particularly with BN), perfectionism, anxiety disorders, a family history of dieting, family history of eating disorders, past substance abuse or a family history of substance abuse, and external pressure to conform to a particular body shape from family, friends, or athletic subculture ^{6,21,34}.

A 2003 study of 934 Italian women with a history of ED showed dieting to be a significant predictor of ED, with the risk of developing an ED increasing with the number of diets attempted ²¹. The same study also showed that a history of childhood abuse (physical and/or sexual) was significantly associated with both AN and BN ²¹. More urbanized environments have also shown higher prevalence rates of ED, although it is not completely clear as to why ²¹.

Eating Disorders Treatment and Recovery

Eating disorders are treatable, although treatment is often difficult and complicated. Studies show that recovery rates from BN are higher than those from AN. For patients with BN, 75% reached full recovery a median of 9 years after beginning treatment ³⁵. Among patients with AN, studies have shown that slightly less than one half fully recover, around one third improve but do not reach full recovery, and around 20% of those who receive treatment remain chronically ill ¹². Recovery for AN patients was more likely in those who received longer follow-

up treatment and were younger at the age of diagnosis, and less likely for those who engaged in binge and/or purging behaviors, had the illness for longer periods of time, and showed obsessive-compulsive personality symptoms ¹². Relapse rates for AN and BN appear to be similar, with around one third of individuals who recover relapsing back to ED behaviors ³⁵. Individuals with a previous diagnosis of AN who relapse tend to show significant bulimic behavior, whereas individuals with remitted BN relapse back into bulimic behaviors ³⁵. This lends support to the idea that binge/purge behavior is a possible barrier to remission. This also relates to the issue of diagnostic crossover seen in EDs, where an individual begins with the diagnosis of one eating disorder and transitions into another eating disorder, most commonly AN to BN ^{6,36}, and AN, BN, and BED to less well-defined eating disorders ³⁷. Low levels of self-directedness and high levels of parental criticism may contribute to crossover from AN to BN ³⁶.

The rates of relapse and remission for OSFED and BED have not been as widely studied as AN and BN. The research that has been done is not conclusive. While certain studies indicated that relapse and remission rates for EDNOS (to date, no studies have been done on relapse rates for OSFED) did not differ significantly from those of BN ³⁸, others found that EDNOS had higher and faster remission rates than either AN and BN ³⁷. A recent study on the remission rate of BED shows that BED also has a higher remission rate than AN and BN ³⁷, but this was just one study and more needs to be done to clarify remission rates.

Current Treatment Practices

Due to the broad range of symptoms, eating disorders are best treated by a team of professionals. A physician, a psychiatrist, a licensed therapist or psychologist, a dentist (if vomiting is present) and a registered dietitian should all be members of an eating disorder treatment team³⁹⁻⁴¹. Depending on the individual circumstances and symptomatology of each

client, other individuals, including parents and/or guardians for adolescents and partners/spouses for adults also play a role in treatment ^{42,43}.

According to the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, "a RD is an essential component of team treatment of patients with anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa, and other eating disorders... during assessment and treatment across the continuum of care" 41. The registered dietitian plays a vital role in the treatment team, as s/he addresses the patient's diet and eating habits, behaviors focal to the disorder and the treatment. Registered dietitians help physicians establish an appropriate minimum body mass index (BMI), as well as monitor food intake and weight gain, provide meal planning and food preparation education, and counsel on food behaviors ⁴. The RD must also work closely with primary care physicians in monitoring severely malnourished patients for refeeding syndrome, in which potentially fatal fluid and electrolyte imbalances can occur during the first few days of refeeding a severely malnourished patient if proper protocol is not followed ^{39,44}. The RD also collaborates with both the therapist and physician on establishing and monitoring adequate nutrient intake, appropriate weight ranges, and the return to normalized eating ³⁹. This particular responsibility is especially crucial to AN for three reasons. For one, weight regain is needed to improve the efficacy of therapy ⁴⁵. For another, patients with AN are hypothesized to have better outcome if they leave a hospital treatment setting with the ability to consume a varied diet, including foods of higher caloric density ⁴⁵. Third, most of the physical complications associated with AN can be reversed with weight gain ^{6,46}.

The specialized knowledge registered dietitians can bring to eating disorder treatment is invaluable. A 2002 survey of Canadian family practitioners found that, although family physicians are comfortable with the diagnosis of eating disorders, they are less comfortable with managing eating disorders. Most would share care with other professionals, typically

psychiatrists and nutritionists ⁴⁷. Another survey found that 55% of healthcare providers reported that they would refer a patient with an eating disorder to a nutritionist ⁴⁸. Furthermore, many physicians may not feel qualified to give adequate nutritional counseling ⁴⁹. Psychiatrists, therapists and nurses also do not have the same level of nutritional expertise as dietitians ⁵⁰, which can be problematic when either the therapist or psychiatrist addresses specific eating behaviors and nutrition beliefs in therapy sessions. The challenge is that many individuals with eating disorders believe they possess a great deal of nutrition-related knowledge ⁵⁰. A healthcare provider must have enough nutrition knowledge to identify and address any misconceptions, inaccuracies, and gaps in the nutrition beliefs of those with EDs ⁵⁰, and the dietitian is certainly the most well-qualified to address this area of treatment.

The RD also plays a vital role in nutrition education, not only for patients but their family members as well. For patients being treated using the Maudsley method, in which individuals under the age of 18 are provided effective treatment at home with the parents regulating and enforcing meal times and dietary habits, the RD plays an integral role in instructing the parents and/or guardians in proper nutrition ⁷, which requires forming a trusting relationship with them ⁴². When clients/patients have reached a point in their treatment where they are maintaining a relatively healthy weight, but still may be struggling with eating disordered thoughts and minor behaviors, the RD is responsible for continuing to counsel and educate on healthy eating behaviors. This includes meal planning, shopping, and dining out ⁴⁰.

Educational Preparation for Dietetic Professionals Working with ED

A 2011 practice paper published by the American Dietetic Association (ADA), now known as the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, states that it is the responsibility of RDs involved in ED treatment to "obtain advanced training, continuing education and case consultations" and to remain well-read on current research pertaining to EDs ⁴⁰. Since eating

disorders affect an individual's life in many ways, and require multiple medical practitioners to treat, individuals who work specifically with eating disorders must have specialized knowledge. In the case of the registered dietitian, he or she must have mental health literacy, lack of which is a barrier to treatment ⁵¹. Any dietitian working with eating disorders must have an understanding not only of the psychological effects and symptoms of eating disorders, but fully appreciate how ingrained these thoughts and behaviors are, and how they are expressed through eating behaviors ⁵². They also must be aware of how symptoms of common comorbid psychological disorders, such as depression, anxiety disorders, substance abuse, and obsessive-compulsive disorder, interact with EDs ⁵³. A thorough understanding of EDs can help prevent a treatment professional from accidentally triggering ED thoughts and feelings; for example, a well-meaning compliment of a patient's physical appearance can be interpreted by the patient as "You look fat" ⁵².

Less knowledge and understanding of eating disorders among healthcare providers has been shown to correlate with more negative views on patients with eating disorders ⁵⁴. This correlation may reflect frustration, hopelessness, lack of competence, or worry about the patient, and has been associated with a lack of improvement on behalf of the patient ⁵⁴. Many healthcare professionals see eating disorders as difficult and time consuming to treat, and feel that they lack the proper training, support, and confidence to treat this group of patients ⁵¹. While certainly not all healthcare practitioners specialize in treating eating disorders, it is important that they know enough about EDs and their own personal limits to properly refer patients to those who specialize in EDs ⁵⁵.

Patients with ED can be difficult to work with for several reasons. Some have no desire to change their behavior because they see it as positive, or serving a needed purpose, particularly in AN ^{6,51,55}. They also may lie about behaviors or not recognize behavior as problematic ⁵⁶. The

presence of an eating disorder is usually comorbid with other issues such as Axis I and II mental disorders, alcohol and drug use ^{57,58}, and self-injury ¹⁴ which can complicate treatment ^{12,13,34,58}. Relapse is not uncommon in AN and BN, particularly in individuals with high levels of body image distortion ³⁵.

Even if an RD does not start out intending to work with eating disorders, it is possible that s/he could encounter or, either intentionally or unintentionally, be responsible for a patient with an ED. It is important RDs are educated enough to understand these complexities and fully realize what EDs and their treatments entail, so they can judge if they are competent to work with the client or should refer him/her to a more experienced RD. RDs must also be careful to maintain professional boundaries between themselves and the patient, which can be difficult with EDs due to the nature of the disease ⁵⁵. They must also be careful not to take on the role of psychotherapist. RDs, although they can play a critical role in identification of an ED as well as a crucial role in treatment, should not diagnose an ED. That is the role of either a physician or mental health practitioner ⁴⁰.

An RD knowledgeable about eating disorders, however, is invaluable to treatment.

Previous studies show common themes pertaining to successful eating disorder treatments are the presence of supportive, understanding relationships both during and outside of treatment and being able to talk openly about alternative coping mechanism to ED behaviors ⁵². Awareness and self-perceived skill in ED knowledge was associated with a higher rate of identifying BN in a study among nurses ⁵¹. There is no reason to assume this trend would not be seen in dietitians.

An additional reason why all RDs should be educated on eating disorders is for identification and referral purposes. RDs may see individuals with ED who were referred to them for reasons other than ED treatment. RDs may be the first practitioner to be consulted by a

patient with an ED ⁴¹, although possibly for symptoms secondary to the ED. For example, an individual may seek dietary advice for a cosmetic issue such as dry skin, thinning hair, or swollen cheeks, when the causes of these issues may be eating disorder behaviors. RDs who work with high risk groups, such as college students, athletes, and patients diagnosed with conditions that require a heavy focus on dietary intake such as diabetes, can be vitally important in the early recognition of eating disorders ⁵⁹, but only if they know the sometimes subtle indications. Dietitians or nutritionists were ranked third in an Australian community survey for mental health literacy for persons most likely to be helpful in treating AN, after physicians and psychologists ⁶⁰, and were ranked first for persons most likely to be helpful in treating BED ⁶¹.

RDs may also be in a better position to recognize EDs in male and minority populations whose risk for ED is typically overlooked by physicians ^{26,28,62}. An appointment with an RD focuses on diet and eating behaviors, so disordered eating habits may be more noticeable.

Given the current obesity levels among children and adults, there has also been a push for individuals to slim down via diet and exercise. Here, too, is an area where RDs and nutrition educators must be aware and knowledgeable of EDs. With all the current media attention on the health risks of obesity, RDs must be able to give information on dieting and weight management in a healthful way. They also must be able to detect the signs of BED and BN in obese/overweight patients. RDs, in addition, must be aware that EDs such as AN, BN, or OSFED can and do appear in patients who start out as overweight/obese and then lose weight 63 .

Current RD Knowledge and Attitudes Towards Eating Disorders

To date, very few published studies have been conducted on the knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and training level of RDs and dietetics students towards EDs. The results of the few studies that do exist indicate that educational opportunities for RDs related to EDs are lacking. One survey of Canadian RDs reported that 71% of respondents were dissatisfied or very

dissatisfied with educational opportunities for EDs in nutrition counseling, with many reporting reading and intuition as their main routes for education on this topic ⁶⁴. Given the importance of the role of the RD in ED detection and treatment, one wonders why there is a lack of research addressing the question: Are graduating nutrition students prepared to work with patients with EDs? There are many areas in which an RD could encounter patients with an ED, such as sports and athletics, nutrition education, clinical settings, adolescents, bariatric surgery, obstetrics, diabetes care, and private practice. ED education, particularly education that emphasizes the subtle indications of an ED as well as general symptoms and emphasizes that EDs can affect anyone in the population regardless of gender, race, or socioeconomic status, is a required tool for ED recognition in any of these at-risk populations ²².

Some students seek a nutrition degree because they plan to work with eating disorders. A study that interviewed applicants to a Master's Nutrition program at a North American university reported that 30% of applicants were motivated to apply by personal experiences with obesity and eating disorders ⁶⁵. Literature suggests that dietetics and nutrition majors have a higher incidence of ED behaviors ⁶⁶, with one study showing that 20% vomited after overeating ⁶⁷, and another reporting that 90% of dietetics majors were unsatisfied with their bodies with an additional 30% scoring for disordered eating on the Bulimic Inventory Test ⁶⁸. Inappropriate/potentially dangerous weight-loss methods such as vomiting after meals, skipping meals, and fasting have been reported in dietetics majors ⁶⁹. Thus, while dietetics and nutrition majors may have a relatively higher rate of EDs than other populations, it does not mean they are knowledgeable enough about ED to effectively recognize or treat them.

Many nutrition majors apply for dietetic internships with the goal of becoming RDs and working in various areas of nutrition. As described above, it is likely that they will encounter

patients/clients with EDs, regardless of whether they specialize in ED treatment or not. Thus, graduating students need a basic level of ED competency. According to the ADA 2011 practice paper regarding nutritional intervention in EDs, competence includes knowledge of signs and symptoms, the ability to analyze appropriate lab and anthropomorphic data, an understanding of the need for immediate treatment, and knowing the proper treatment facilities and/or treatment professionals to which to refer clients ⁴⁰. Since practitioner attitudes and beliefs towards eating disorders can have a strong positive or negative impact on treatment success, it is important to inform students that a positive attitude towards EDs is essential for treating these disorders.

Surveys and questionnaires have been used by a variety of medical professionals, medical students, therapists, counselors, dietitians, undergraduate students, and physical activity and nutrition educators regarding their knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs on eating disorders ^{22,47,49,64,70,71}. These types of measurement tools are acceptable instruments for pursuing further insight.

Purpose of thesis project

The purpose of this project was to measure knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs towards EDs in senior undergraduate nutrition majors in several DPD programs.

CHAPTER 2: JOURNAL OF THE ACADEMY OF NUTRITION AND DIETETICS MANUSCRIPT

Summary

Background

Eating disorders are potentially deadly conditions. RDs who are knowledgeable about eating disorders can have a positive impact in eating disorder treatment. They can also contribute by recognizing symptoms of eating disordered behavior in clients and bringing awareness of the issue to the public through education on the differences between healthy and disordered eating. The question addressed in this research is: Are the Didactic Programs in Dietetics at three Colorado universities adequately preparing students, intent on becoming RDs, for encounters with patients with eating disorders during their careers?

Methods

In this study, participants were asked to complete a survey on their knowledge, beliefs, and attitudes towards eating disorders. Participation was optional and anonymous. Topics included etiology of eating disorders, knowledge of the physical effects of eating disorders, and attitudes towards treating patients with eating disorders.

Results

There was no difference between schools in students' knowledge and attitudes except for the belief in the likelihood of AN to be fatal and the number of practitioners to which students would refer a client with ED. Significant differences were found between students who suspected and/or had been diagnosed with an eating disorder compared to those who had not. Those who had been diagnosed with or suspected they had an eating disorder were more knowledgeable

about anorexia and bulimia nervosa, felt eating disorders were harder to treat, and felt that individuals who develop eating disorders were less in control of the disease.

Conclusions

While undergraduate DPD students in Colorado appear somewhat knowledgeable about anorexia and bulimia nervosa, they know less about binge eating disorder. It is recommended that DPD programs include EDs in relevant classes such as medical nutrition therapy or lifecycle nutrition.

Introduction

Eating disorders (ED) are biologically-based psychological disorders, the physical behaviors of which can lead to severe medical problems. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders- Fifth Edition currently lists four separate categories of eating disorders: anorexia nervosa (AN), bulimia nervosa (BN), other specified feeding and eating disorders (OSFED), and binge eating disorder (BED) ^{1,2}. In AN, individuals heavily restrict food intake to achieve extremely low body weight. BN is characterized by episodes of binge eating followed by inappropriate compensatory mechanisms to eliminate the food and calories consumed. BED, which recently received its own category in the DSM-5, involves bingeing but no compensatory behaviors. OSFED (formerly eating disorders not otherwise specified, or EDNOS) is a new category that involves sub threshold and atypical conditions; in this category, an individual clearly has an eating disorder, but the physical and/or psychological symptoms do not meet the criteria for one of the eating disorders listed above ².

The physical complications that can arise from eating disorders are numerous, and can vary in severity depending on individual behaviors and the duration of the eating disorder.

Complications of AN include reduced bone density, constantly feeling cold, lanugo, amenorrhea

and fertility issues, low blood pressure, cardiovascular issues, a decrease in gut motility and kidney function ⁷. Common BN complications are electrolyte imbalance, gastrointestinal complications, dehydration, menstrual irregularities and fertility problems, and kidney damage ⁷. The medical complications of BED are typically overweight/obesity and the associated sequelae of issues associated with excess body weight, such as diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease ⁶.

EDs have a high rate of comorbidity with other mental disorders. Over half of individuals with AN, 94% of individuals with BN, and 79% of individuals with BED met the criteria for at least one other mental health disorder ¹⁰, including significantly higher rates of depression, anxiety, obsessive-compulsive disorder, substance abuse, and self-injury than their non-eating disordered peers ¹¹⁻¹⁴.

Individuals with EDs also have an increased rate of death. Standardized mortality rates for AN have been consistently higher than that of the general population¹⁵⁻¹⁸. Common causes of death are suicide and cardiac events ^{15,18}. BN and OSFED are also associated with increased all-cause mortality ¹⁷, and both show a significantly higher suicide rate than non-ED populations ¹⁶.

Hudson and Hiripi estimate that the lifetime prevalence of AN, BN, and BED are 0.9%, 1.5%, and 3.5%, respectively, for women and 0.3%, 0.5%, and 2.0%, respectively, for men ¹⁰. Individuals can have more than one lifetime diagnosis of an ED, and it is not uncommon to move from one diagnosis to another ²¹. These numbers do not include other ED sub-categories such as atypical AN, atypical BN, purging disorder, other manifestations of EDs that do not neatly fit into a diagnosis of AN, BN, or BED, or disordered eating, suggesting that the prevalence rate of EDs in the United States is likely higher than the 8% estimated. This is supported by the finding

that 76% of college students report knowing someone with an ED²². In a recent general population survey in the UK, 10% of respondents disclosed disordered eating behaviors²³.

Currently the prevalence rates of AN and BN appear to be relatively stable ^{10,20} whereas the incidence rates of BED among the population are growing ¹⁰. The incidence of EDs in males has been increasing ⁹.

To date, the cause of eating disorders remains an elusive mix of a variety of factors. Genetics play a role, certainly in AN and BN ⁶, and quite possibly for BED and OSFED as well, although genetic studies of those particular EDs is limited. Other factors include low self-esteem, previous obesity, perfectionism, anxiety disorders, a family history of dieting and/or EDs, past substance abuse or a family history of substance abuse, and external pressure to conform to a particular body shape from family, friends, or athletic subculture ^{6,7,21,34,72}.

Eating disorders are treatable, although treatment is often difficult and complicated. Studies show that recovery rates from BN are higher than those from AN. For patients with BN, 75% reached full recovery a median of 9 years after beginning treatment ³⁵. Among patients with AN, studies have shown that slightly less than one half fully recover, around one third improve but do not reach full recovery, and around 20% of those who receive treatment remain chronically ill ¹². Relapse rates for AN and BN appear to be similar, with around one third of individuals who recover relapsing back to ED behaviors ³⁵. Certain studies indicate that relapse and remission rates for EDNOS do not differ significantly from those of BN ³⁸, others find that EDNOS has higher and faster remission rates than either AN and BN ³⁷.

Due to the broad range of symptoms, eating disorders are best treated by a team of professionals. A physician, a psychiatrist, a licensed therapist or psychologist, a dentist (if

vomiting is present) and a registered dietitian (RD) should all be members of an eating disorder treatment team ^{39-41,72}.

The RD plays a vital role in the treatment team, as s/he addresses the patient's diet and eating habits, behaviors focal to the disorder and the treatment. The RD works closely with primary care physicians in monitoring severely malnourished patients for refeeding syndrome ^{39,44}. The RD collaborates with both the therapist and physician on establishing and monitoring adequate nutrient intake, appropriate weight ranges, and the return to normalized eating ³⁹. The RD also plays a role in nutrition education, not only for patients but their family members as well. For patients being treated using family-based therapy, in which individuals under the age of 18 are provided effective treatment at home with the parents regulating and enforcing meal times and dietary habits, the RD plays an integral role in instructing the parents and/or guardians in proper nutrition ⁷. When clients/patients have reached a point where they are maintaining a relatively healthy weight, but still may be struggling with eating disordered thoughts and minor behaviors, the RD is responsible for continuing to counsel and educate on healthy eating behaviors. This includes meal planning, shopping, and dining out ⁴⁰.

The 2011 practice paper published by the American Dietetic Association (ADA) states that it is the responsibility of RDs involved in ED treatment to "obtain advanced training, continuing education and case consultations" and to remain well-read on current research pertaining to EDs ⁴⁰. Individuals who work specifically with eating disorders must have specialized knowledge, e.g., an understanding not only of the psychological effects and symptoms of eating disorders, but how ingrained these thoughts and behaviors are, and how they are expressed through eating behaviors ⁵². They must be aware of how symptoms of common

comorbid psychological disorders interact with EDs ⁵³. RDs should not diagnose an ED. That is the role of either a physician or mental health practitioner ⁴⁰.

Previous studies show common themes pertaining to successful eating disorder treatments are the presence of supportive, understanding relationships both during and outside of treatment and being able to talk openly about alternative coping mechanism to ED behaviors ⁵². Therefore it is not surprising that less knowledge and understanding of eating disorders among healthcare providers has been shown to correlate with more negative views on patients with eating disorders, which may reflect frustration, hopelessness, lack of competence, or worry about the patient, and has been associated with a lack of improvement on behalf of the patient ⁵⁴. Many healthcare professionals see eating disorders as difficult and time consuming to treat, and feel that they lack the proper training, support, and confidence to treat these patients ⁵¹. Thus, it is important that healthcare practitioners who do not specialize in EDs know enough about EDs and their own personal limits to properly refer them to ED specialists ⁵⁵.

Patients with ED can be difficult to work with; some have no desire to change their behavior because it is seen as positive, or serving a needed purpose, particularly in AN ^{6,51,55}. They also may lie about ED behaviors or not recognize behavior as problematic ⁵⁶. The presence of comorbid mental health issues can complicate treatment ^{12,13,34,58}. Relapse is not uncommon in AN and BN, particularly in individuals with high levels of body image distortion ³⁵.

RDs who work with high risk groups, such as college students, athletes, and patients diagnosed with conditions that require a heavy focus on dietary intake such as diabetes, can be vitally important in the early recognition of eating disorders ⁵⁹. An appointment with an RD focuses on diet and eating behaviors, which could make disordered eating habits more noticeable. RDs may also be in a better position to recognize EDs in male and minority

populations whose risk for ED is typically ignored by physicians^{26,28,62}. As overweight and obese individuals try to slim down via diet and exercise, a growing number of overweight and obese individuals resort to unhealthy eating behaviors and developing EDs ⁶³. Often, the disorder goes unnoticed due to the individual's starting weight; large amounts of weight can be lost yet the individual remains at a "healthy" BMI ⁶³. ED education, particularly that emphasizes the subtle indications of an ED, is a required tool for ED recognition in any of these at-risk populations ²².

Many nutrition majors apply for dietetic internships with the goal of becoming RDs. As described above, it is likely that they will encounter patients/clients with EDs, regardless of whether they specialize in ED treatment or not. Thus, graduating students need a basic level of ED competency. According to the ADA 2011 practice paper regarding nutritional intervention in EDs, competence includes knowledge of signs and symptoms, the ability to analyze appropriate lab and anthropomorphic data, an understanding of the need for immediate treatment, and knowing the proper treatment facilities and/or treatment professionals to refer clients ⁴⁰. Since practitioner attitudes and beliefs towards eating disorders can have a strong positive or negative impact on treatment success, it is important to inform students that a positive attitude towards EDs is essential for treating these disorders.

To date, few published studies have reported on the knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and training level of RDs and dietetics students towards EDs. The few studies that do exist indicate that RDs wish for more educational opportunities on EDs ⁶⁴. Given the importance of the role of the RD in ED detection and treatment, one wonders are graduating nutrition students prepared to work with patients with EDs?

The purpose of this study was to measure knowledge of and attitudes and beliefs towards EDs in senior undergraduate nutrition majors. Surveys and questionnaires have been used among

a variety of medical professionals, medical students, therapists, counselors, dietitians, undergraduate students, and physical activity and nutrition educators in regards to their knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs on eating disorders ^{22,47,49,64,70,71}.

Methods

Participants

Participants for this cross-sectional study were undergraduate students enrolled in senior capstone classes (or the equivalent) during the fall semester of 2013 in the nutrition programs at Colorado State University (CSU), the University of Northern Colorado (UNC), and the Metropolitan State University of Denver (MSU). All students in these classes were given the option to participate in the anonymous survey. Students were provided with a cover letter (Appendix 1) in lieu of a signed form of consent. The survey tool was modeled after a survey used in a similar study ²², with permission of the original study authors. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of the participating universities.

Study Tool

Demographics were included because age and gender have been shown to correlate with knowledge of EDs ⁶⁰. Nutrition students may demonstrate a higher than average rate of disordered eating ⁶⁶⁻⁶⁹, thus respondents were asked if they had been diagnosed with or suspected having an ED due to the potential of affecting an individual's beliefs, knowledge, and attitudes towards ED etiology, physical complications, and treatment.

The first part of the survey assessed how students perceived the development of EDs. It consisted of one "yes/no" question on whether students believed they could identify ED in someone they had just met, followed by two questions asking students to rank their beliefs (on a 9-point Likert scale) on whether or not they thought EDs were treatable and whether or not

individuals with EDs have control over the development of the disorder, with 1 being "very little" and 9 being "a lot."

The second section focused on knowledge and beliefs of the physical consequences and consisted of four 9-point Likert scale items addressing the likelihood of EDs to cause physical damage and the fatality of AN, BN, and BED, with 1 being "not at all likely" and 9 being "very likely." This was followed by items asking students to identify the physical complications of EDs. Students were given a list of the same 22 possible physical complications of EDs for AN, BN, and BED; they were asked to select "yes, "no," or "don't know." Every item was a possible physical complication of at least one of the three EDs.

The third section focused on EDs in clinical practice. Students were asked four questions related to their self-perceived preparedness to recognize symptoms of an ED, explain ED treatment, refer patients with EDs to a treatment team and/or treat EDs as part of a treatment team using a 9-point Likert scale. Students were asked to agree or disagree with six items to assess their attitudes towards individuals with EDs: individuals with EDs are difficult to treat; individuals with EDs do not want treatment; EDs are time-consuming to treat; whether or not the student would feel uncomfortable treating a client with an ED; whether or not the student would feel a sense of personal satisfaction treating a client with an ED; and whether or not an RD should be able to diagnose an ED. Lastly, students were asked to list any treatment professionals to whom they would refer a client with an ED.

The last section of the survey asked for age, gender, and ethnicity, the amount of college-level instruction they had received on EDs. Students were also asked to indicate if they had been diagnosed with, treated for, or suspected they had an ED. A survey (Appendix 1) was used in this project because of the relative ease of distribution, collection, and coding.

The study tool was reviewed for content validity by a registered dietitian with experience treating clients with ED and teaching college-level courses about ED. Reliability was established using a test-retest procedure, which used Pearson's correlations and dependent t-tests to determine the reliability of each item. Pearson's correlations for knowledge of the physical complications of AN, BN, and BED were 0.64, 0.84, and 0.79, respectively.

Data Collection

A hard copy of the survey was given to participants in their senior capstone class by their professors and participants completed the survey either in class or on their own time, at the discretion of the professor. Students returned their completed surveys to their professors who then returned them in a sealed envelope to the PI or Co-PI.

Data Analyses

Data was entered into a Microsoft Xcel spreadsheet by the co-PI. The co-PI double-checked entered data for errors. Data was then analyzed using Statistical Analysis Software (SAS) version 9.2 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC 2008), with the level of significance defined at p<0.05. Frequency analyses were performed for all variables. Chi-square analysis was performed to compare schools for demographic information, if students had college-level courses on ED, and whether participants suspected or had been diagnosed and/or treated for an ED. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) compared the participants' ages across schools. Additional ANOVA or analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) analyses were used to compare variables across schools and according to the number of ED related courses taken. For between-school analyses, age was controlled.

All four preparedness items were strongly linked (Cronbach's alpha of 0.8) and were thus combined into one variable, "Self-reported preparedness to treat EDs." The attitude variables

"individuals with EDs are difficult to treat" and "Individuals with EDs are time-consuming to treat" were also strongly linked and were combined into the variable "hard to treat." None of the analyses justified combining other attitude variables. T-tests were used to compare individuals with no history of ED and those who suspected/had been diagnosed with an ED.

Results

One-hundred and eighty-two surveys were distributed and 104 completed surveys were received for a 57% response rate: 33 surveys from CSU (55% response rate), 63 from MSU (69% response rate), and 8 from UNC (26% response rate) (Table 1). Of the respondents, 88% were female and 89% were white. Students at MSU were significantly older than students at CSU or UNC. Only 9% of students had taken a class dedicated to EDs while 59% had taken a class that at least mentioned EDs. Approximately 25% of students reported suspecting that they had an ED. All students who indicated they had been formally diagnosed with and/or treated for an ED also marked that they suspected they had an ED.

Student attitudes towards patients with EDs were largely positive (Table 2). Students rated difficulty of treating eating disorders as 6.9 (1.5). Students were neutral on the statement that individuals with EDs did not want treatment (4.4 [2.0]) and agreed (7.2, [1.8]) that they would feel a sense of personal satisfaction from treating EDs. Students were neutral on whether or not an RD should be able to diagnose an ED by him or herself (5.2 [2.7]). Students knew more about the physical complications of AN (15.2 [2.7]) than BN (12.8 [3.7]), and knew the least about the physical complications of BED (10.6 [5.2]).

Significant differences were found between students who suspected they had or had been diagnosed with an ED compared to those who had not (Table 3). Compared to the other respondents, those who had been diagnosed with or suspected they had an ED felt that

Table 1. Demographic characteristics according to school.

Demographic Variable		School	
	Colorado State	University of Northern	Metropolitan State
	University	Colorado	University of Denver
	(n =33)	(n =8)	(n =63)
Gender, % female	97	% 100	79
Ethnicity, % white	94	87	83
Age, LSM (SE)	22 (1.0) ^a	21 (2.0) ^a	29 (0.8) ^b
Took at least 1 course that focused on EDs	18	0	5
Took at least 1 course that mentioned but did not focus on EDs	61	75	54
Have not taken any courses that mention EDs	21	25	41
% who suspect/been diagnosed with an ED	24	29	25

Different letter superscript in row indicates significant difference.

individuals had less control over the development of an ED, were more knowledgeable about the physical complications of AN and BN, believed that BN was less likely to be fatal, felt EDs were more difficult and time consuming to treat, and would refer a client with an ED to more treatment professionals. They also indicated they would feel a greater sense of personal satisfaction in treating individuals with EDs versus students who did not suspect they had an ED.

When comparing students by classes taken, those who took a class that mentioned eating disorders but did not focus on them showed significantly greater knowledge of AN physical complications than those who did not take a class that mentioned EDs (average of 15.6 ± 0.3

Table 2. Student responses according to school

Variable	Colorado State University (n =33)	School University of Northern Colorado (n =8)	Metropolitan State University of Denver (n =63)	All (n=102)
G 1		Ismean (SEM)	, ,	Mean (SD)
Control over development of ED	4.8 (0.5)	4.8 (0.8)	4.8 (0.3)	5.1 (2.0)
Knowledge of				
physical complications of AN	15.6 (0.6)	16.1 (1.1)	14.6 (0.4)	15.2 (2.7)
physical complications of BN	13.6 (0.9)	11.0 (1.4)	13.1 (0.6)	12.8 (3.7)
physical complications of BED	10.8 (1.2)	12.5 (2.0)	11.6 (0.8)	10.6 (5.2)
Likelihood of AN to be fatal	6.9 (0.3) ^a	6.7 (0.5) ^a	7.7 (0.2) ^b	7.7 (1.2)
Likelihood of BN to be fatal	6.3 (0.4)	6.9 (0.7)	6.7 (0.3)	6.7 (1.7)
Likelihood of BED to be fatal	6.3 (0.4)	6.9 (0.7)	6.7 (0.3)	6.0 (1.9)
EDs are difficult and time consuming to treat	6.5 (0.4)	6.5 (0.6)	7.0 (0.2)	6.9 (1.5)
People with EDs do not want treatment	3.5 (0.5)	3.3 (0.8)	4.4 (0.3)	4.4 (2.0)
Would feel a sense of personal satisfaction treating client with ED	6.5 (0.4)	6.8 (0.7)	7.0 (0.3)	7.2 (1.8)
RDs should be able to diagnose EDs	5.8 (0.7)	5.9 (1.2)	5.1 (0.5)	5.2 (2.7)
Number of practitioners would refer a client with ED	4.9 (0.2) ^a	3.8 (0.4) ^b	5.3 (0.2) ^a	5.2 (1.0)
Perceived preparedness to treat EDs	6.1 (0.6)	5.1 (0.9)	5.3 (0.4)	5.2 (2.0)

Different letter superscript in row indicates significant difference. Maximum knowledge score= 22. Maximum referral score=6. All other values on Likert scale, 1= Strongly Disagree, 9=Strongly Agree. AN=Anorexia Nervosa. BN=Bulimia Nervosa. BED=Binge Eating Disorder.

Table 3. Student responses according to self-identified eating disorder

Variable	Status of Eating Disorder			
	Diagnosed with and/or suspect has an	No ED		
	ED			
	(n=25)	(n=77)		
	lsmean (SEM)			
Control over development				
of ED (larger #= less				
control)	6.1 (2.1)	4.8 (1.9)**		
Knowledge of				
physical complications of AN	16.2 (0.4)	14.9 (0.3)*		
physical complications of BN	13.9 (0.6)	12.4 (0.4)*		
physical complications of BED	11.3 (0.8)	10.3 (0.6)		
Likelihood of AN to be	7.7 (1.4)	7.7 (1.2)		
fatal				
Likelihood of BN to be fatal	6.0 (0.4)	6.9 (1.5)*		
EDs are difficult and time consuming to treat	7.5 (1.2)	6.9 (1.5)*		
People with EDs do not want treatment	4.2 (2.0)	4.5 (1.9)		
Would feel uncomfortable treating a client with ED	3.3 (2.1)	3.5 (2.3)		
Would feel a sense of personal satisfaction treating a client with ED	8.0 (1.2)	6.9 (1.8)**		
RDs should be able to diagnose EDs	5.0 (2.9)	5.3 (2.7)		
Number of practitioners would refer a client with ED	5.7 (0.1)	5.1 (0.1)*		
Perceived preparedness to treat EDs	5.6 (2.1)	5.1 (2.0)		

^{*}p<0.05. **p<0.01. Maximum knowledge score= 22. Maximum referral score=6. All other values have maximum score=9.

Table 4. Student's Knowledge of Eating Disorders according to Courses Taken

Knowledge of Physical	Took at least 1 course	Took at least 1 course	Have not taken any
Complications of	that focused on EDs	that mentioned but did	courses that mention
	(n=9)	not focus on EDs	EDs
		(n=59)	(n=34)
Ismean (SEM)			
Anorexia Nervosa	$15.4 (0.9)^{a,b}$	$15.6 (0.3)^{b}$	$14.3 (0.5)^a$
Bulimia Nervosa	13.0 (1.2) ^{a,b}	13.3 (0.5) ^b	11.6 (0.6) ^a
Binge Eating Disorder	13.6 (1.7) ^a	10.4 (0.7) ^b	9.7 (0.9) ^b

Different letter superscript in row indicates significant difference. Maximum score =22.

versus 14.3±0.5 respectively, p<0.05), (Table 4). Knowledge of BN yielded similar results: knowledge was significantly higher for those who had taken a class that mentioned, but did not focus on, eating disorders compared to those who had not taken a class that mentioned ED and was not statistically different from having taken a class focused on ED . For BED, knowledge was higher for those who had taken a class focused on EDs, with an average score of 13.6±1.7, compared to those who had not taken a class on ED or had taken a class that only mentioned EDs.

Discussion

In general, it appears students from the three schools have similar knowledge and attitudes. On average, individuals scored higher for knowledge of physical complications of AN and BN than BED. There were no differences between schools for all variables with the exception of the likelihood of AN to be fatal and number of possible referrals the respondent might make to other practitioners. Since higher scores for both occurred at the same university it is possible these students were more exposed to this information.

The results on knowledge for AN and BN are interesting. While taking a class that mentioned, but did not focus on, EDs significantly raised participant's knowledge level on AN

and BN above those who had not taken a class that mentioned ED, taking a class that focused on EDs resulted in scores that were not significantly different than never having taken a class that mentioned EDs. One would expect that taking a class on EDs would raise knowledge levels significantly, but that was not the case. The likely explanation for this is that the small sample size of students who took a class focusing on EDs could be masking any more significant effects. Another is that participants who have taken a class that focused on EDs might be aware of the fact that eating disorder symptoms and behaviors can vary between individuals (there are different subtypes of AN and BN, all with different specific behaviors). For example, not all individuals with BN use vomiting as a form of purging, and thus are less likely to develop physical complications associated with frequent vomiting such as tooth decay. Thus, individuals who were well-versed on the complexities of EDs may have responded "I don't know" to certain knowledge questions, as the exact subtype of eating disorder was not specified.

Taking a class that focused on EDs did significantly raise knowledge on BED above that of never taking a class on EDs or taking a class that mentioned but did not focus on EDs. Even among students who had taken a class on EDs, knowledge of BED was still lower than knowledge of AN or BN. Also of note is that 54% of students believed that a physical effect of BED was cavities, and 49% believed BED could also cause an electrolyte imbalance, which indicates that a large number of respondents may have mistakenly believed that purging is a behavior seen in BED.

Most students felt that EDs are difficult and time-consuming to treat, yet were open to working with these clients, which correlates with views of healthcare professionals ⁵¹. However, students largely felt that individuals with EDs do want help. This differs from studies of patients in ED facilities that indicate many individuals with ED feel ambivalent towards treatment ^{52,73}.

The fact that most students responded that patients with EDs do want treatment and that they would feel comfortable treating EDs could be a result of improved attitudes towards individuals with eating disorders. Which also contradicts previous research indicating that college students see EDs in an unfavorable light ⁷¹. Negative attitudes of treatment professionals have been associated with lack of patient improvement ⁵⁴, so the largely positive attitudes among students towards those with EDs is encouraging, particularly in light of the fact that many professionals who work with ED clients cite the ability to build a relationship with the client as more helpful than the type of treatment they provide ⁵¹.

Although most respondents who wish to work as an RD in a clinical setting responded that they would be open to working with an ED client, students indicated they did not feel well prepared to treat the population. This concurs with previous research indicating that lack of confidence and professional training and support in treating EDs is a common complaint among treatment professionals ⁵¹.

Recent studies examining EDs and disordered eating among non-athlete female students at American colleges and universities estimate a prevalence of 13% ^{74,75}, but 25% of respondents to this survey reported having an ED. This finding correlates with previous studies indicating that college nutrition majors are more prone to ED than students in other majors ⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸.

The statistically significant differences between individuals who did not report a history of an ED and those who had been diagnosed with an ED or suspected they had one were higher levels of knowledge for AN and BN, as well as more positive attitudes towards patients with EDs. This might be expected, as previous research has shown that individuals may be more sympathetic and more positive towards subjects (in this case, individuals with EDs) they perceive to be similar to themselves ⁷¹. Those with an ED or suspected ED have an insider's

perspective on the thoughts, emotions, and cognitions that accompany them. This could not only give them a more sympathetic view of individuals who suffer from EDs, but also increase their satisfaction from treating EDs because of a greater sense of understanding of the work that goes into recovery on behalf of the patient. This correlates well with research into the advantages reported by therapists with a previous diagnosis of an ED, particularly having more empathy and expertise ⁷⁶.

While students with a history of an ED had a more positive and understanding view of patients with ED, it is important to note that they did not feel more or less prepared to treat patients with ED than their non-ED peers. This is surprising, as individuals who had a history of an ED might be expected to have an incentive to research the condition and its treatment on their own. However, their low self-perceived preparedness could reflect their apprehension about triggering their own symptoms ⁷⁶. Students who either had or suspected they had an ED also did not know significantly more about BED. Again, this could be due to the fact that BED has only recently been identified and there is less information on it than either AN or BN.

This study does have limitations. Most respondents were non-Hispanic white females in their early 20's. This demographic group has been shown to know more about AN and BN than others ^{22,60}. However, the majority of RDs in the United States are white females ⁷⁷, so the relatively uniform racial and gender makeup of respondents may serve as a more accurate marker for the majority of RDs and aspiring RDs. The low number of males in this study also means that any previously reported differences in the knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs about EDs between males and females were not able to be investigated ²². Another limitation is this survey only looked at students from one state. In addition, because many students took the survey home to complete, it is possible that they could have researched the topic of EDs before filling out the

surveys. However, the similar results seen in the three different institutions suggest respondents did not look up answers. There is a possible response bias; students who already knew about EDs and/or had an interest in treating EDs could have been more likely to complete and turn in the survey. Also, the survey did not measure knowledge of psychological symptoms of EDs, which are an important component of EDs for providers to know.

Conclusion

To date, few studies have examined the knowledge of and/or attitudes and behaviors towards EDs of dietetics professionals and dietetic students, despite the vital role RDs play in the treatment of EDs. This study was relatively small, but it raise concerns relevant to the education of future RDs regarding EDs.

While undergraduate Didactic Programs in Dietetics (DPD) students in Colorado seem to be somewhat knowledgeable about AN and BN, they do not know much about binge eating disorder (BED). This is of concern, because BED is more prevalent than both AN and BN ⁷⁸. Another concern is that 34% of students had not taken a class that even mentioned EDs. Given that dietitians may have more frequent contact with individuals with EDs than psychologists or counselors ⁵¹, this indicates a gap in the education of future dietetic professionals that should not be ignored. It would be beneficial for schools to make time for at least a brief overview of EDs in appropriate classes, such as medical nutrition therapy or lifecycle nutrition, to better prepare students for encountering patients with EDs during their careers. This instruction should not only cover the physical signs, symptoms, and treatment options for EDs but also the psychological aspects of the disorders. Healthcare professionals who work with EDs must understand how the ED fits into the life of the client as a coping mechanism and a way to feel in control of some aspect of his or her life ⁵². Even with partial-syndrome EDs, in which individuals exhibit some

signs of an ED but not to an extent significant enough to warrant a diagnosis, individuals show elevated levels of anxiety, depression, and substance abuse ¹¹. Furthermore, the AND should offer a certification program for RDs who wish to specialize in ED treatment, similar to current certifications for specializations in sports dietetics and pediatric, gerontological, renal, and oncology nutrition, to ensure that proper educational criteria are met for treating these disorders.

Future research in this area is needed to investigate whether or not students know of the psychological issues associated with EDs. There may also be between-institution differences in knowledge of and attitudes and beliefs towards ED. Additionally, while the attitudes, beliefs, and knowledge of EDs have been studied among nurses and physicians, comparatively little research has been done in this area on practicing RDs, and what studies there are indicate a desire for more education and training materials for EDs ⁶⁴.

Over 5% of the population could develop an ED in their lifetime. Given the difficulty in recognizing EDs in their earlier stages, the challenge of treating these disorders, and the importance of nutrition education and therapy in ED treatment, DPD programs cannot ignore this topic.

CHAPTER 3: FURTHER CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

The fact that slightly over a third of the students surveyed reported that they had not had a class that even mentioned EDs also highlights that EDs are not prioritized in DPD curricula in Colorado. Even in programs that do include ED education for nutrition students, the students themselves may not feel like EDs are important. In the two schools where ED-focused nutrition courses were offered as optional choices, only 18% of students at CSU and 5% of students at MSU actually took them. Other factors could also account for the low enrollment, such as scheduling conflicts with required courses. It is recommended that DPD programs re-evaluate educational requirements and identify opportunities to include EDs in their curriculum.

Another implication of this study is that students knew significantly less about BED compared to AN and BN. BED is an ED they are more likely to encounter in clinical practice (and daily life) than AN and/or BN. Thus, it is recommended that DPD programs include BED in required courses such as medical nutrition therapy and/or lifecycle nutrition. Medical nutrition therapy classes could cover EDs in a separate lecture, while classes such as lifecycle nutrition can tie EDs into other topics already covered in the curriculum. For example, EDs could be tied into nutrition during puberty and pregnancy. Classes covering sports nutrition could also go more in depth on EDs, particularly when covering the female athlete triad (energy deficit, amenorrhea, and osteoporosis). Nutrition counseling classes should mention EDs, particularly BED, when discussing weight loss counseling and obesity.

While this project was enlightening, there are adjustments that could improve the quality of the results of future studies. The first would be to replicate this study in other states. The results from this study can only be applied to students from Colorado, and while they can be used

as an indicator for the rest of the country, there are potential significant differences between schools from one state to the next. Another adjustment could be to have a parallel qualitative study rather than "yes/no" items or Likert-scales. While qualitative questions could lower the response rate due to respondent burden and are harder to code, they have the potential to give more detailed information on students' knowledge and attitudes about EDs. Further research on this topic should also focus on practicing RDs to identify how current practitioners view EDs and identify areas to improve in their education.

REFERENCES

- 1. Attia E, Becker A, Bryant-Waugh R, et al. Feeding and Eating Disorders in DSM-5. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*. 2013;170(11):1237-1239.
- 2. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5.* 5 ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- 3. Fairburn CG, Bohn K. Eating disorder NOS (EDNOS): an example of the troublesome "not otherwise specified" (NOS) category in DSM-IV. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*. 2005;43:691-701.
- 4. Dalle Grave R. A Multi-Step Cognitive Behaviour Therapy for Eating Disorders. *European Eating Disorders Review.* 2005;13:373-382.
- 5. Dalle Grave R, Calugi S. Eating Disorder Not Otherwise Specified in an Inpatient Unit: The Impact of Altering the DSM-IV Critera for Anorexia and Bulimia Nervosa. *European Eating Disorders Review.* 2007;15:340-349.
- 6. Fairburn CG, Harrison PJ. Eating disorders. *The Lancet*. 2003;361(9355):407-416.
- 7. Rosen DS. Identification and Management of Eating Disorders in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 2010;126:1240-1253.
- 8. Klein DA, Walsh BT. Eating disorders: clinical features and pathophysiology. *Physiology & Behavior*. 2004;81:359-374.
- 9. Lask B. Eating disorders in childhood and adolescence. *Current Pediatrics*. 2000;10:254-258.
- 10. Hudson J, Hiripi E, Pope H, Kessler R. The Prevalence and Correlates of Eating Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Biological Psychiatry*. 2007:61:348-358.
- 11. Lewinsohn P, Striegel-Moore R, Seeley J. Epidemiology and Natural Course of Eating Disorders in Young Women From Adolescence to Young Adulthood. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*. 2000;39(10).
- 12. Steinhausen H-C. The Outcome of Anorexia Nervosa in the 20th Century. *American Journal of Psychiatry*. 2002;159(8):1284-1293.
- 13. Wentz E, Gillberg I, Anckarsater H, Gillberg C, Rastam M. Adolescent-onset anorexia nervosa: 18-year outcome. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*. 2009;194:168-174.
- 14. Paul T, Schroeter K, Dahme B, Nutzinger DO. Self-Injurious Behavior in Women With Eating Disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*. 2002;159(3):408-411.
- 15. Papadopoulos F, Ekbom A, Brandt L, Ekselius L. Excess mortality, causes of death and prognostic factors in anorexia nervosa. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*. 2009;194:10-17.
- 16. Crow S, Peterson C, Swanson S, et al. Increased Mortality in Bulimia Nervosa and Other Eating Disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*. 2009;166:1342-1346.
- 17. Arcelus J, Mitchell AJ, Wales J, Nielsen S. Mortality Rates in Patients With Anorexia Nervosa and Other Eating Disorders: A Meta-analysis of 36 studies. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2011;68(7):724-731.
- 18. Birmingham CL, Su J, Hlynsky JA, Goldner EM, Gao M. The mortality rate from anorexia nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2005;38(2):143-146.
- 19. Hoek HW, van Hoeken D. Review of the Prevalence and Incidence of Eating Disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2003;34:383-396.

- 20. Currin L, Schmidt U, Treasure J, Jick H. Time trends in eating disorder incidence. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*. 2005;186:132-135.
- 21. Favaro A, Ferrara S, Santonastaso P. The Spectrum of Eating Disorders in Young Women: A Prevalence Study in a General Population Sample. *Psychosomatic Medicin*. 2003;65:701-708.
- 22. Hunt JS, Rothman AJ. College students' mental models for recognizing anorexia and bulimia nervosa. *Appetite*. 2007;48(3):289-300.
- 23. Solmi F, Hatch S, Hotopf M, Treasure J, Micali N. Prevalence and correlates of disordered eating in a general population sample: the South East London Community Health (SELCoH) study. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* 2014;49:1335-1346.
- 24. Striegel-Moore R, Franko D. Epidemiology of binge eating disorder. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2003;34:S19-S29.
- 25. Raisanen U, Hunt K. The role of gendered constructions of eating disorders in delayed help-seeking in men: a qualitative interview study. *BMJ Open.* 2014;4.
- 26. Muise AM, Stein DG, Arbess G. Eating Disorders in Adolescent Boys: A Review of the Adolescent and Young Adult Literature. *Journal of Adolescent Health*. 2003;33(6):427-435.
- 27. Cohane G, Pope H. Body Image in Boys: A Review of the Literature. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2001;29(4):373-379.
- 28. Gordon K, Brattole M, Wingate L, Joiner T. The Impact of Client Race on Clinician Detection of Eating Disorders. *Behavior Therapy*. 2006;37(4):319-325.
- 29. Gordon K, Perez M, Joiner T. The impact of racial stereotypes on eating disorder recognition. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2002;32(2):219-224.
- 30. Chamorro R, Flores-Ortiz Y. Acculturation and disordered eating patterns among Mexican American women. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2000;28(1):125-129.
- 31. Franko D, Becker AE, Thomas JJ, Herzog DB. Cross-Ethnic Differences in Eathing Disorder Symptoms and Related Distress. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2007;40(2):156-164.
- 32. Striegel-Moore R, Schreiber G, Lo A, Crawford P, Obarzanek E, Rodin J. Eating disorder symptoms in a cohort of 11 to 16-year-old black and white girls: the NHLBI growth and health study. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2000;27(1):49-66.
- 33. Micali N, Hagberg KW, Peterson I, Treasure JL. The incidence of eating disorders in the UK in 2000-2009: findings from the General Practice Research Database. *BMJ Open*. 2013;3(5).
- 34. Cassin S, von Ranson KM. Personality and eating disorders: A decade in review. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2005;25:895-916.
- 35. Keel P, Dorer DJ, Franko DL, Jackson SC, Herzog DB. Postremission Predictors of Relapse in Women With Eating Disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*. 2005;162:2263-2268.
- 36. Tozzi F, Thornton LM, Klump KL, et al. Symptom Fluctuation in Eating Disorders: Correlates of Diagnostic Crossover. *American Journal of Psychiatry*. 2005;162:732-740.
- 37. Agras W, Crow S, Mitchell JE, Halmi KA, Bryson S. A 4-Year Prospective Study of Eating Disorder NOS Compared with Full Eating Disorder Syndromes. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2009;42(6):565-570.

- 38. Grile CM, Pagano ME, Skodol AE, et al. Natural Course of Bulimia Nervosa and EAting Disorder Not Otherwise Specified: 5-Year Prospective Study of Remissions, Relapses, and the Effects of Personality Disorder Psychopathology. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*. 2007;63(5):738-746.
- 39. Walsh J, Wheat M, Freund K. Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of Eating Disorders: The Role of the Primary Care Physician. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2000;15:577-590.
- 40. Waterhous T, Jacob M. Practice Paper of the American Dietetic Association: Nutrition Intervention in the Treatment of Eating Disorders. 2011.
- 41. Ozier A, Henry B. Position of the American Dietetic Association: Nutrition Intervention in the Treatment of Eating Disorders. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2011:1236-1241. www.eatright.org/postions. Accessed Dec 12, 2012.
- 42. Pereira T, Lock J, Oggins J. Role of Therapeutic Alliance in Family Therapy for Adolescent Anorexia Nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2006;39:677-684
- 43. Bulik C, Baucom DH, Kirby JS, Pisetsky E. Uniting Couples (in the treatment of)
 Anorexia Nervosa (UCAN). *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2010;44(1):19-28.
- 44. Hofer M, Pozzi A, Joray M, et al. Safe refeeding management of anorexia nervosa inpatients: an evidence-based protocol. *Nutrition & Dietetics*. 2014;30:524-530.
- Walsh B. The importance of eating behavior in eating disorders. *Physiology & Behavior*. 2011;104:525-529.
- 46. Treasure J, Claudino AM, Zucker N. Eating disorders. *Lancet*. 2010:583-593.
- 47. Boule C, McSherry J. Patients with eating disorders: How well are family physicians managing them? *Canadian Family Physician*. 2002;48:1807-1813.
- 48. Linville D, Brown T, O'Neil M. Medical Providers' Self Perceived Knowledge and Skills for Working With Eating Disorders: A National Survey. *Eating Disorders*. 2012;20(1):1-13.
- 49. Park ER, Wolfe TJ, Gokhale M, Winickoff JP, Rigotti NA. Perceived preparedness to provide preventive counseling. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2005;20(5):386-391.
- 50. Cordery H, Waller G. Nutritional knowledge of health care professionals working in the eating disorders. *European Eating Disorders Review*. 2006;14(6):462-467.
- 51. Hay P, Darby A, Mond J. Knowledge and beliefs about bulimia nervosa and its treatment: A comparative study of three disciplines. *Journal of Clinical Psychology Medicine Settings*. 2007(14):59-68.
- 52. Reid M, Burr J, Williams S, Hammersley R. Eating Disorders Patients' Views on Their Disorders and on an Outpatient Service: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of Health Psychology*. 2008;13.
- 53. Klump KL, Bulik CM, Kaye WH, Treasure J, Tyson E. Academy for Eating Disorders Position Paper: Eating Disorders are Serious Mental Illnesses. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2009;42(2):97-103.
- 54. Thompson-Brenner H, Satir D, Franko D, Herzog D. Clinician Reactions to Patients With Eating Disorders A Review of the Literature. *Psychiatric Services*. 2012;63(1):73-28.
- 55. Strober M. Managing the Chronic, Treatment-Resistant Patient with Anorexia Nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2004;36:245-255.

- 56. Mond J, Myers T, Crosby R, Hay P, Mitchell J. Bulimic Eating Disorders in Primary Care: Hidden Morbidity Still? *Journal of Clinical Psychology Medicine Settings*. 2010;17:56-63.
- 57. Dansky B, Brewerton T, Kilpatrick D. Comorbidity of Bulimia Nervosa and Alcohol Use Disorders: Results from the National Women's Study. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2000;27:180-190.
- 58. O'Brien K, Vincent N. Psychiatric comorbidity in anorexia and bulimia nervosa: nature, prevalence, and causal relationships. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 2003;23:57-74.
- 59. Tholking M, Mellowspring A, Girarg Eberle S, et al. American Dietetic Association: Standards of Practice and Standards of Professional Performance for Registered Dietitians (Competent, Proficient, and Expert) in Disordered Eating and Eating Disorders (DE and ED). *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2011;111(8):1241-1249.
- 60. Darby AM, Hay PJ, Mond JM, Quirk F. Community recognition and beliefs about anorexia nervosa and its treatment. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2012;45(1):120-124.
- 61. Mond JM, Hay PJ. Public perceptions of binge eating and its treatment. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. 2008;41(5):419-426.
- 62. Gilbert S. Eating Disorders in Women of Color. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*. 2003;10(4):444-455.
- 63. Sim L, Lebow J, Billings M. Eating Disorders in Adolescents With a History of Obesity. *Pediatrics*. 2013;132:e1-e5.
- 64. Cairns J, Levy Milne R. Eating Disorder Nutrition Counseling: Strategies and Education Needs of English-Speaking Dietitians in Canada. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 2006;106(7):1087-1094.
- 65. Hughes R, Desbrow B. Aspiring dietitians study: A pre-enrolment study of students motovations, awareness and expectations relating to careers in nutrition and dietetics. *Nutrition & Dietetics*. 2005;62:106-109.
- 66. Worobey J, Schoenfeld D. Eating Disordered Behavior in Dietetics Students and Students in Other Majors. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 1999;99(9):1100-1102.
- 67. Crockett SJ, Littrell JM. Comparison of eating patterns between dietetic and other college students. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 1985;17(2):47-50.
- 68. Kolka M, Abayomi J. Body image dissatisfaction among food-related degree students. *Nutrition & Food Science*. 2012;42(3):139-147.
- 69. McArthur LH, Howard AB. Dietetics Majors' Weight-Reduction Beliefs, Behaviors, and Information Sources. *Journal of American College Health*. 2001;49(4):175-181.
- 70. O'Dea JA, Abraham S. Knowledge, Beliefs, Attitudes, and Behaviors Related to Weight Control, Eating Disorders, and Body Image in Australian Trainee Home Economics and Physical Education Teachers. *Journal of Nutrition Education*. 2001;33(6):332-340.
- 71. Johnstone J, Rickard K. Perceptions of college women with disordered eating and exercise patterns. *Social Behavior and Personality*. 2006;34(9):1035-1050.
- 72. Rome ES, Ammerman S, Rosen DS, et al. Children and Adolescents With Eating Disorders: The State of the Art. *Pediatrics*. 2003;111:e98-e108.
- 73. Vitousek K, Watson S, Wilson G. Enhancing Motivation for Change in Treatment-Resistant Eating Disorders. *Clinical Psychology Review*. 1998;18(4):391-420.

- 74. Eisenberg D, Nicklett EJ, Roeder K, Kirz N. Eating Disorder Symptoms Among College STudents: Prevalence, Persistence, Correlates, and Treatment-Seeking. *Journal of American College Health*. 2011;59(8):700-707.
- 75. Reinking MF, Alexander LE. Prevalence of Disordered-Eating Behaviors in Undergraduate Female Collegiate Athletes and Nonathletes. *Journal of Athletic Training*. 2005;40(1):47-51.
- 76. Johnston C, Smethurst N, Growers S. Should People with a History of an Eating Disorder Work as Eating Disorder Therapists? *European Eating Disorders Review*. 2005;13:301-310.
- 77. Registration CoD. Registered Dietitians Demographics. 2014; http://www.cdrnet.org/certifications/registered-dietitians-demographics. Accessed July 9, 2014.
- 78. Stice E, Marti C, Rhode P. Prevalence, incidence, impairment, and course of the proposed DSM-5 eating disoerder diagnoses in an 8-year prospective community study of young women. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*. 2013;122(2):445-457.

APPENDIX 1: SURVEY TOOL AND COVER LETTER



July 9, 2013

Dear Participant,

My name is Marcia Winer and I am a researcher from Colorado State University in the Food Science and Human Nutrition department. We are conducting a research study on senior undergraduate students in nutrition departments about their knowledge of and attitudes towards eating disorders. Given many of you plan to become registered dietitians, there is a chance that you will encounter individuals with eating disorders in your careers. The title of our project is "Surveying the Knowledge of and Attitudes Towards Eating Disorders of Undergraduate Nutrition Majors." The Principal Investigators are Dr. Garry Auld, PhD, RD and Dr. Melissa Wdowik, PhD, RD of the Food Science and Human Nutrition Department and the Co-Principal Investigator is Marcia Winer, MS student in the Food Science and Human Nutrition Department.

We would like you to please complete the following survey that has been given to you by your senior capstone professor to complete in class or outside of class on your own time. Participation will take approximately 15 minutes. Your participation in this research is voluntary. If you decide to participate in the study, you may withdraw your consent and stop participation at any time without penalty.

While we do ask basic demographic information at the end of the survey, we will not be collecting any direct identifying information. The individuals who will have access to the completed surveys will be myself, Dr. Garry Auld, and Dr. Melissa Wdowik. While there are no direct benefits to you, we hope to gain more knowledge on the knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs of undergraduates on eating disorders and how well prepared the students of these programs feel to work with individuals with eating disorders. This information may be useful when designing future courses or programs.

There are no known risks to filling out this survey. It is not possible to identify all potential risks in research procedures, but the researcher(s) have taken reasonable safeguards to minimize any known and potential, but unknown, risks.

If you have any questions, please contact Marcia Winer at 720-480-6884 or via e-mail at marcia.winer@gmail.com or Dr. Garry Auld at 970-491-7429 or via e-mail at garry.auld@colostate.edu. If you have any questions about your rights as a volunteer in this research, contact Janell Barker, Human Research Administrator, at 970-491-1655.

Sincerely,

Dr. Garry Auld, PhD, RD Professor Dept. Food Science and Human Nutrition Colorado State University Marcia Winer
MS Candidate
Dept. Food Science and Human Nutrition
Colorado State University

The following websites are good resources to learn more about eating disorders:

The National Eating Disorder Association www.nationaleatingdisorders.org

National Institute of Mental Health www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/eating-disorders

Something Fishy Website on Eating Disorders www.something-fishy.org

To receive more personal information about eating disorders and eating disorder treatment centers in your area, please contact your school counseling services or:

National Eating Disorder Association toll-free helpline (9am-9pm M-Th and 9am-5pm Fridays, EST) 1-800-931-2237

http://www.nationaleatingdisorders.org/treatment

Eating Recovery Center
http://www.eatingrecoverycenter.com/
Denver, CO
1-877-825-8584

La Luna Center
http://www.lalunacenter.com/
Fort Collins, CO: 970-282-8282
Boulder, CO: 720-470-0010

Beyond the Mirror http://www.beyondthemirror.org/
Fort Collins, CO: 970-402-8543

EATING DISORDERS SURVEY

Thank you for participating in our survey. Please keep in mind that this is not a test, so you should not worry about giving right or wrong answers. We are interested in anything that you know, think, believe, or feel about eating disorders. Remember that the questionnaire is anonymous and confidential.

Please do not discuss this survey with others. Please do not look up the answers.

Section I. Development of Eating Disorders

We want to learn about your opinions on the development of eating disorders.

1.	Do you th (please cir		•	could te	ll wheth	er son	neone	you j	ust met h	as an ea	ting disorder?
		Yes				_ No					
2.	Do you thi	ink eati	ng dis	orders a	re treata	ible? ((please	e circ	le one)		
	Yes	1	2	3	4	5	6		7 8	9	No
3.	How muc	h contr	ol do ː	you thin	k a pers	on has	over	the d	evelopme	nt of an	eating disorder?
	None	1 2	3	4 5	6	7	8	9	A lot		

4. How much influence do you think the following factors have on the development of an eating disorder?

Genetics	Very Little	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Puberty	Very Little	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Family en	meshment Very Little	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Family his	tory of depres			3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Family his	tory of dietin Very Little	_	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Perfection	ism Very Little	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
The media	Very Little	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Peer press	ure Very Little	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Controllin	g family envi			3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Family his	tory of alcoho Very Little			drug		~	6	7	8	9	A lot
Low self-e		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Personal h	istory of traus Very Little				4	5	6	7	8	9	A lot
Very Little 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A lot Presence of other mental health problems (such as depression or anxiety.) Very Little 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A lot											

Section 5	II.	Physical	Consequences	of Eating	Disorders
Secuoii .	II.	1 Hysicai	Consequences	or Laung	, Districts

We now want to learn about your knowledge and opinions on the physical consequences of eating disorders.

 How likely are eating disorders to cause <u>physical damage</u> to the boo 	1.]	How likely as	re eating disorders t	o cause physical	damage to the bod	y'
--	------	---------------	-----------------------	------------------	-------------------	----

Not at all 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Very Likely Likely

2. How likely are the following eating disorders to be **fatal**?

Anorexia:

Not at all 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Very Likely Likely

Bulimia:

Not at all 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Very Likely Likely

Binge Eating Disorder:

Not at all 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Very Likely Likely

4. Which of the fo	ollowing are possible	physical compl	lications of Anore	exia Nervosa? Pl	ease
check the best res	ponse for each.				

Always cold	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Anemia	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Bloating	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Broken blood vessels in eyes/face	Yes	No	Don't Know
Cardiovascular disease	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Cavities	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Constipation	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Type II diabetes	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Electrolyte imbalance	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Fatigue	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Gastroesophageal reflux disorder	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Hair loss	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Heart arrhythmia	Yes	No _	Don't Know
High blood pressure	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Low blood pressure	Yes	No _	Don't Know
High cholesterol	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Insomnia	Yes	No _	Don't Know
	Yes	No _	Don't Know
covers the face and body) Menstrual irregularities/ infertility	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Muscle wasting/ weakness	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Obesity	Yes	No _	Don't Know
Osteoporosis	Yes	No _	Don't Know

5. Which of the following are possible physical complications of **Bulimia Nervosa**? Please check the best response for each.

Always cold	Yes	No	Don't Know
Anemia	Yes	No	Don't Know
Bloating	Yes	No	Don't Know
Broken blood vessels in eyes/face	Yes	No	Don't Know
Cardiovascular disease	Yes	No	Don't Know
Cavities	Yes	No	Don't Know
Constipation	Yes	No	Don't Know
Type II diabetes	Yes	No	Don't Know
Electrolyte imbalance	Yes	No	Don't Know
Fatigue _	Yes	No	Don't Know
Gastroesophageal reflux disorder	Yes	No	Don't Know
Hair loss	Yes	No	Don't Know
Heart arrhythmia	Yes	No	Don't Know
High blood pressure	Yes	No	Don't Know
Low blood pressure	Yes	No	Don't Know
High cholesterol	Yes	No	Don't Know
Insomnia	Yes	No	Don't Know
<u> </u>	Yes	No	Don't Know
covers the face and body) Menstrual irregularities/ infertility	Yes	No	Don't Know
Muscle wasting/ weakness	Yes	No	Don't Know
Obesity	Yes	No	Don't Know
Osteoporosis	Yes	No	Don't Know

6. Which of the following are possible physical complications of Binge Eating Disorde	r? Please
check the best response for each.	

Always cold	Yes	No	Don't Know
Anemia	Yes	No	Don't Know
Bloating	Yes	No	Don't Know
Broken blood vessels in eyes/face	Yes	No	Don't Know
Cardiovascular disease	Yes	No	Don't Know
Cavities	Yes	No	Don't Know
Constipation	Yes	No	Don't Know
Type II diabetes	Yes	No	Don't Know
Electrolyte imbalance	Yes	No	Don't Know
Fatigue	Yes	No	Don't Know
Gastroesophageal reflux disorder	Yes	No	Don't Know
Hair loss	Yes	No	Don't Know
Heart arrhythmia	Yes	No	Don't Know
High blood pressure	Yes	No	Don't Know
Low blood pressure	Yes	No	Don't Know
High cholesterol	Yes	No	Don't Know
Insomnia	Yes	No	Don't Know
	Yes	No	Don't Know
covers the face and body) Menstrual irregularities/ infertility	Yes	No	Don't Know
Muscle wasting/ weakness	Yes	No	Don't Know
Obesity	Yes	No	Don't Know
Osteoporosis	Yes	No	Don't Know

Section III-- Eating Disorders in Clinical Practice

In this section, we want to learn what you think about dealing with eating disorders in a clinical setting.

1. Are	you planning on	workir	ng as a	an RE) in a	clinic	al sett	ing?		
	Yes	ľ	No							
If y	es, continue on i	n this s	sectio	n. If	no, pi	oceed	l to q	uestic	on 4.	
2. Ho	w willing would y								_	order?
	Very 1 Unwilling	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Very Willing
2a. If y	ou are unwilling,									
	Too diffi	icult	• ,		Do	on't fe	el pre	pared		ar a d
	My pers Other (sonal h Please	istory exnla	 ain)	No	t intei	ested	in tre	ating t	this population
		(110000	· · · · · ·							
3. If an o:	individual with a	n eatin	g disc	order (came	to you	ı for tı	reatm	ent, ho	ow prepared would you
Recogn	nize symptoms of	an eati	ng dis	order	·:					
	Very 1 Unprepared	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Very Prepared
Explair	n the treatment pro	ocess fo	or eati	ng di	sorde	rs:				
P	-									
	Very 1 Unprepared	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Very Prepared
	cupropurou									1100000
Direct 1	them to appropria	te treat	ment	facili	ties/pi	ractiti	oners:			
	Very 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Very
	Unprepared									Prepared
Offer a	ppropriate nutrition	onal ad	vice/s	uppo	rt as p	art of	a trea	ıtmen	t team	:
	Very 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Very
	Unprepared									Prepared

4. Please i	ndicate hov	v muc	h you	agree	e or di	sagre	e with	the f	ollow	ing:	
Individual	s with eatin	ng disc	orders	are d	ifficul	lt to tr	eat.				
	Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Strongly Agree
Individual	s with eatin	ng disc	orders	do no	ot war	nt trea	tment	•			
	Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Strongly Agree
Individual	s with eatin	ng disc	orders	are ti	me co	onsum	ing to	treat	•		
	Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Strongly Agree
I would fe	el uncomfo	rtable	treati	ing in	dividu	ıals w	ith ea	ting d	isorde	ers.	
	Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Strongly Agree
I would fe	el a sense o	of pers	onal	satisfa	ction	if I tr	eated	indiv	iduals	with ea	ting disorders.
	Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Strongly Agree
A register	ed dietitian				_			_		-	
	Strongly Disagree	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Strongly Agree
	se check al	l that	apply	•			be in	clude			disorder treatment
		eral P chiatri		ioner	(M.D	.)				rapist/P ntist	sychologist
	•	istere		titian					Fan	nily The	erapist

6.	If you strongly suspect a client has an eating disorder, what would you do? Please check all
	that apply.
	Refer to a psychiatrist
	Advise them to contact an MD
	Treat them myself for an eating disorder
	Refer to another RD
	Refer to a therapist/psychologist
	Treat them myself for only the issue they came to see me for
	Educate them on eating disorders
	Diagnose them with an eating disorder

Section IV. Demographics

We are interested in knowing something about the students answering our survey. You may skip any questions that you do not feel comfortable answering. Please keep in mind that this questionnaire is completely anonymous and confidential.

1.	1. Age:			
2.	Gender:	Female	Male	
3.	What is your racial/ethnic background? (circle all that apply)			
	White	;	African-American	Hispanic
	Asian	-American	Native American	
	Other			
		(please wri	te in)	
4.	. Have you taken a college-level course on eating disorders? Yes, I have taken a class specifically focused on eating disorders. Credit Hours			
	I have	taken a clas	s that was not focused on ea	ating disorders, but I learned a little about
the	em in one o	of my classes		
	No, I	have not tak	en a class on eating disorde	ers but plan to
	No, I	have not tak	en a class on eating disorde	ers and do not plan to
dis	sorders. W	e realize that	*	themselves have experienced eating ormation. Again, we remind you that this atial.
5.	Have you		agnosed with an eating disc No	order? (circle one)
6.	Have you		eated for an eating disorder No	?
7.	Do you su	spect you ha Yes N	ve/have had an eating disor	rder?